IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2007-KA-00695-SCT

MICAH RUFFIN

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF YAZOO COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 24-9505

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

IMHOTEP ALKEBU-LAN P.O. BOX 31107 JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 39286-1107 601-353-0450 TELEPHONE 601-353-2818 TELECOPIER

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2007-KA-00695-SCT

MICAH RUFFIN

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR WHEN IT DENIED RUFFIN'S DURESS INSTRUCTION TO THE UNDERLYING FELONY OF KIDNAPPING IN THE CAPITAL MURDER CHARGE OF COUNT ONE OF THE INDICTMENT?
- II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT DENIED RUFFIN'S MOTION FOR CONTINUANCE?
- III. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED MANIFEST ERROR OR THE DECISION IS CONTRARY TO THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF EVIDENCE WHEN IT DENIED RUFFIN'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS STATEMENT?
- IV. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT DENIED RUFFIN'S MOTION FOR CHANGE OF VENUE?
- V. WHETHER CUMULATIVE EFFECTS OF ERRORS DENIED RUFFIN A FAIR TRIAL?

SUMMARY OF THE CASE

This case comes before the Court on appeal from a jury verdict of guilty and a judgment and sentence of life imprisonment for capital murder and ten (10) years for arm robbery, to run concurrently, by the Circuit Court of Yazoo County, Mississippi, Judge Jannie M. Lewis, on April 5, 2007.¹

The State of Mississippi charged Micah Ruffin in count one of a two count indictment with capital murder in violation on M.C.A. §97-3-53. Count two charged him with armed robbery in violation of M.C.A. §97-3-79.² On April 2, 2007 the charges against Ruffin came on for trial. The District Attorney announced ready and Ruffin announced ready. The jurors who were summoned were selected, specially sworn, impaneled and accepted by

¹ R.E. 211. In this brief R.E. refers to the Record Excerpts Page. The record page is cited as Volum:Page:Line(s).

² R.E. 5.

both the State and Ruffin to try this cause. On April 5, 2007, after testimony from witnesses, the jury found Ruffin guilty on both counts. On April 5, 2007 the court sentenced Ruffin to serve a term of life imprisonment without parole for count one and ten (10) years for Count 2. Count one and two to run concurrently.³ A Notice of Appeal was filed on April 9, 2007.⁴

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On July 2, 2002 Tommy Lee White was at his home in Yazoo City, Mississippi shooting dice with the victim, Thomas Giles, and others. Along with other visitors, Darwin Strahan and Micah Ruffin were also at the house watching the dice game. At one point, Strahan and Ruffin exited the house only to return minutes later. Ruffin returned with a gun and Strahan a brick. Giles was beaten by Strahan and put in the trunk of a car driven by Ruffin.

Along with two other companions in the car, Strahan had Ruffin drive to a corn field where Strahan removed Giles from the trunk. Strahan shot Giles six time about the head with a 22 caliber rifle. Strahan took some money from Giles. His body was later found at the end of a turn row within the city limits of Yazoo City, Mississippi.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court committed reversible error when it denied Ruffin's duress instruction to the underlying felony of kidnapping in the capital murder charge of count one of the indictment. A defendant is entitled to have jury instructions given which present his theory

³ R.E. 211.

⁴ R.E. 209-10.

of the case. The law and evidence supported such an instruction. The. motion for continuance should been granted where Ruffin's retained counsel, Chokwe Lumumba, had been recently reinstated to practice law in Mississippi and needed more time in which to prepare for trial. The court's ruling was an abuse of the court's discretion and the abuse actually worked an injustice against Ruffin. Manifest error occurred when Ruffin's statements were not suppressed where, considering the totality of the circumstances, they were coaxed and not freely and voluntarily given. The motion for change of venue should have been granted because it became evident Ruffin could not receive a fair trial in Yazoo County. Finally, the commutative effect of trial errors denied Ruffin a fair trial.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR WHEN IT DENIED RUFFIN'S DURESS INSTRUCTION TO THE UNDERLYING FELONY OF KIDNAPPING IN THE CAPITAL MURDER CHARGE OF COUNT ONE OF THE INDICTMENT.

The standard of review for the grant or denial of jury instructions is well established. An appellate court, when reviewing a denial of a jury instruction, must consider not only the denied instruction but also all of the instructions which were given to ascertain if error lies in the refusal to give the requested instruction.⁵ A defendant is entitled to have jury instructions given which present his theory of the case; however, the court may refuse an instruction which incorrectly states the law, is covered fairly elsewhere in the instructions, or is without foundation in the evidence.⁶

⁵ Divine v. State, 947 So. 2d 1017, 1021 (¶ 6) (Miss. Ct. App. 2007); see Coleman v. State, 697 So. 2d 777, 782 (Miss. 1997).

⁶ Chandler v. State, 946 so. 2d 355, 360 (¶ 21) (Miss. 2006).

When a party claims that the trial court erroneously refused a tendered instruction, normally the party must show the tendered instruction properly stated the law. However, the court has held that the trial court may have a duty to advise counsel of deficiencies in an instruction and to afford an opportunity to prepare a new instruction. The court said:

[W]here under the evidence a party is entitled to have the jury instructed regarding a particular issue and where theat party requests an instruction which for whatever reason is inadequate in form or content, the trial judge has the responsibility either to reform and correct the proffered instruction himself or to advise counsel on the record of the perceived deficiencies therein and to afford counsel a reasonable opportunity to prepare a new, corrected instruction. Where the trial judge fails in the duty and where the proffered instruction relates to a central issue in the case which is not covered by any other instruction given to the jury, we will reverse.⁷

Ruffin gave his statements, which were later transcribed, to Yazoo City Police Department Investigator Eric Snow on July 8, 2002.⁸ State exhibit 9 was his first transcribed statement introduced into evidence. The following exchange occurred on direct examination in the State's case in chief:

- Q ' What did you ask him?
- A "Darwin didn't say nothing."

"Did you ever hold a gun or hit anybody while you were in the house?"

Q Okay. And what was Mr. Ruffin's answer to that?

⁷ Harper v. State, 478 So. 2d 1017, 1018 (Miss. 1985). See also *Peterson v. State*, 518 So. 2d 632 (Miss. 1987).

^{8 3:318:23-27.}

- A He told me to hold it."9
- Q And what was his response to that?
- A "He told me to back it up, so that's why I went outside, to back it up." 10
- Q And how did he respond to that?
- A "Then he opened the door and said, "Pop¹¹ the trunk."¹²
- Q Did he tell you where they went after they left the house?
- A He stated that he really didn't know. They was telling him which way to go, and that he stopped near a cornfield where they almost ran off the edge of the street on the frontage road.¹³

It's clear in this statement that what Ruffin did he did at the direction of Strahan.

State exhibit 10 was Ruffin's second statement introduced into evidence. The following exchange occurred on direct examination during the State's case in chief:

- Q Then what did he say that he did?
- A Then he told me to get his gun.14
- Q All right, turn to the next page. He makes a statement at the top of that page.

 What is that statement?

⁹ 3:327:1-7.

¹⁰ 3:328:17-19.

¹¹ 3:328:28-29.

¹² 3:329:1.

¹³ 3:331:24-29.

¹⁴ 3:335:18-19.

- A "Darwin told me to give him the gun, and I gave it to him."
- Q What was your question to him after that?
- A "And then what? What were you doing when you gave Darwin the gun?"

 "He told me - he told me to pull the car around."
- Q You told him "Okay, keep going." what else did he say?
- A "I pulled the car around, and he told me to pop the trunk."

 "All right."
 - "And I popped the trunk, and I got out of the car and stepped back inside and told the boy to get up, and we went to the car." 15
- Q And (PAUSE) read his response there at the page, at the top of page 205, about what he said they did.
- "When he got through, he told me to drive. But we got in the car. I was the only one that had license. That's the only reason he kept me around, because I was the only one that had a¹⁶ license."
- Q All right. Then you told him to go ahead. What did he tell you after that?
- "once I backed in there, I put it in park and he got out. He said 'open the trunk, open the trunk.' And he dragged the boy out by his hair. And he walked him. I wasn't too far from the car. It wasn't too far from the car. And

¹⁵ 3:336:3-20.

¹⁶ 3:340:23-29.

¹⁷ 3:341:1.

¹⁸ 3:341:26-29.

he told him to set down. He sat down, and he told me to hand him his gun, and I handed it to him." 19

Again, it is clear in this second statement that what Ruffin did he did at the direction of Strahan. More telling of why Ruffin did what he did is elicited in the following exchange on cross-examination during the State's case in chief:

- Q For instance, there was a portion in there where you asked him why he didn't stop Mr. Strahan from doing what he did. You remember that; right?
- A Yes.
- Q And he said "I was scared to death." Isn't that right?
- A He said he was scared.20
- Q We'll get to it in a minute. And at one point, he indicated that he might be killed or²¹ something himself. He was concerned about that; right?
- A Yes.²²
- Q He had no control over what was going on out there, at least from what he said; right?
- A Yes.23
- Q So it wasn't just Mr. Micah Ruffin that told you he was afraid of Strahan. A

¹⁹ 3:342:1-6.

²⁰ 3:354:17-24.

²¹ 3:354:28-29.

²² 3:355:1-3.

²³ 3:355:24-26.

whole lot of people told you, well, several people tod you they were afraid of Darwin Strahan?²⁴

- A I can't remember how many, but I recall someone saying that.²⁵
- Q Okay. And it says, "Did you think he did something?" and then you said, then he goes on to explain. "I don't know. I didn't know whether to go home that night or be killed. I'd leave, but I did not have a way, no way." that's what he says; right?
- A Yes.26
- Q He says, "So why didn't you try to stop Darwin?"

 And his answer was, "I was scared." is that what he said?
- A Correct.
- Q then your response was, "Scared? What were you scared of?"27
- A "Scared of him." that's what it says; right?
- A Correct.
- Q And then you go on to say, "Scared of him? You had the gun at one time; right?"
- A Yes.²⁸

²⁴ 3:356:26-29.

²⁵ 3:357:1-2.

²⁶ 3:376:22-28.

²⁷ 3:379:23-29.

²⁸ 3:380:1-6.

This passage clearly indicates that Ruffin did what he did because he was scared of Strahan. He felt if he did not do what Strahan told him to do he was scared he would be killed. Duress is the exercise of unlawful force upon a person whereby that person is compelled to do some act that he or she otherwise would not have done. A person having a reasonable opportunity to avoid committing the crime without undue exposure to death or serious bodily harm cannot invoke duress as a defense.²⁹

Duress is not a legal defense to murder.³⁰ However, there's no case law holding that duress cannot be a defense to the underlying felony in a capital murder charge. In fact, a duress instruction to robbery has been given where robbery was the underlying felony in a capital murder charge.³¹ Moreover, duress is a defense to kidnapping.³²

Ruffin's jury instruction D-20 was a duress instruction the court gave to the count two charge of armed robbery.³³ The trial court denied his requested duress instruction to the underlying felony of kidnapping in the capital murder charge of count one of the indictment. The trial court reasoned that duress is not a defense to capital murder.³⁴ This reasoning is misplaced.

²⁹ ld.

³⁰ Sanders v. State, 942 So. 2d 156 (Miss. 2006); see also Fuqua v. State, 938 So. 2d 277 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006).

³¹ Jacobs v. State, 870 So. 2d 1202 (¶ 19) (Miss. 2004).

 $^{^{32}}$ *Milano v. State,* 790 So. 2d 179 (¶ 28) (Miss. 2001) citing *Gibson v. State,* 731 So. 2d 1087 (Miss. 1998).

³³ 5:625:14-29; 5:626:1-3...

³⁴ 5:625:26-29; 5:626:1-3.

Ruffin made the following argument that a duress instruction should be given to the underlying felony of kidnapping:

Secondly, let me explain carefully, Judge, because first of all, I would think that you could never give an instruction saying that duress is not an defense. Maybe, and I would say no, but I would say maybe you can refuse to give the instruction that duress is a defense. But if you give an instruction saying duress in not a defense, you actually nullify one of the requirements of kidnapping, which is necessary for capital murder.

One of the requirements of kidnapping is that it must be willfully done. If you say that duress is not a defense, then you're basically saying that, even if it wasn't willfully done, then you didn't voluntarily or willfully do it, then you're saying that even acts which are not voluntarily and willful can be considered in convicting the gentleman of kidnapping, and, therefore, of capital murder if a death results.

So I cannot imagine there's a case that allows an instruction to be given that says duress is not a defense. Maybe³⁵ there's a case that says, and that's not -- the one he gave us is not the one. **Sanders** is not the one. I've got it right here. **Sanders** has nothing to do with it. But, so we have a double objection here to this. One, is that (a) the case doesn't stand for that proposition, and we think duress is a defense to an underlying crime, which makes it a defense to capital murder. If you don't find him guilty of the underlying crime, then you can't find him guilty of capital murder. So duress is a defense to kidnapping. The kidnapping has to be willful, just

^{35 5:639:4-29.}

like any other crime. And so what we are actually aiming at, and maybe we stated it wrong, is that, and maybe what he should put in the complaint is that, to the charge of kidnapping, which is the underlying offense in count 1, we would like a duress instruction, because clearly, kidnapping requires willful action.

According to everyone who has testified - - uh - - Darwin, what's his name? Darwin Strahan had the weapon in his possession at the time that the gentleman was allegedly put in the car and at the time that the driving took³⁶ place to the scene where he was quote/unquote "kidnapped." and if you - - and then, without question, our client, all throughout his statement, insists "Why did you do it?"

"Darwin said, Darwin said,"

"Why did you drive the car?"

"Darwin said."

"Why did you back it up?"

"Darwin said."

And so when asked, at one point he said, "I though I was going to be killed." and at another point, he said, "I was scared to death. That's why I did the way I did."

So the point is, is that, I think we have established enough to give the defense of duress as an instruction, but, clearly, I don't think there could be an instruction which says that duress is not a defense, because that negates a potion, that negates an element of the offense of kidnapping, which is willfulness.

Now, you can read them both, one that says kidnapping and willfulness, and

³⁶ 5:640:1-29.

another one that says that duress is not a defense, but that's a conflicting instruction, and when you tell the jury³⁷ to take the two together, what they do is one cancels the other.

And so I would say that there never could be an instruction given saying that duress is not a defense, is not a defense to any crime that requires willfulness.³⁸

To this argument the Court made the following ruling:

THE COURT: that argument goes to the State's instruction 7. The Court finds that there is case law that says duress is not a defense of capital murder. And 5-7 is given.³⁹

The court's reasoning was a misstatement of law. Instruction S-7 states in pertinent part that duress would not constitute any defense whatsoever to the charge of capital murder.⁴⁰ The submission of this instruction amounted to reversible error. The correct statement of law is duress is not a legal defense to murder.⁴¹ It does not hold that duress would not constitute any defense whatsoever to the charge of capital murder or that it is not a legal defense to the underlying felony of a capital murder charge.

After the close of all the evidence, Ruffin made the following requested jury instruction that duress is a defense to kidnapping.

³⁷ 5:641:1-29.

³⁸ 5:642:1-6,

³⁹ 5:642:7-12.

⁴⁰ R.E. 174.

⁴¹ Sanders v. State, 942 So. 2d 156 (¶ 23) (Miss. 2006) citing Watson v. State, 212, Miss. 788, 793, 55 So. 2d 441, 443 (1951).

MR. LUMUMBA: Judge just one final request: I would like to amend the instruction that the State has offered the Court, since the Court, in alternative, since the Court has denied my request to deny their duress cannot be an offense of capital murder instruction, I would like to either amend that ⁴² instruction or offer an additional instruction to indicate that duress may be a defense to kidnapping.⁴³
The State objected to this request with the following argument:

MR. POWELL: to which we would object, because the jury is not being instructed on a finding of kidnapping, Your Honor, and duress has to be a complete defense. We have another case in **Fuqua v. State** where, basically, the same instruction in another capital case in which that instruction, the duress instruction, was denied. There are no cases where duress has been allowed as a lesser-included offense to capital murder or the underlying felony.⁴⁴

The State's argument that the jury is not being instructed on a finding of kidnapping is in error as State's instruction S-2 was given.⁴⁵ There is no case law that duress has to be a complete defense to a capital murder charge. Furthermore, *Fuqua* held that the defendant was not entitled to jury instruction on duress in prosecution for capital murder where a person is not authorized to **take the life of another person at the command of**

⁴² 5:644:22-29.

⁴³ 5:645:1-3.

⁴⁴ 5:645:4-15.

⁴⁵ R.E. 169.

a third person, whether he is in fear of such person or not, (emphasis supplied)⁴⁶ Herein.

the evidence established that Ruffin did not shoot Giles. The evidence demonstrated that

Strahan shot Giles. Ruffin was not requesting a duress instruction to murder because he

had taken the life of another person at the command of a third person. Ruffin

requested the duress instruction to the underlying felony of kidnapping to the capital

murder count. Finally, there is case law where a duress instruction is given to the

underlying felony in a capital murder charge.⁴⁷

Ruffin responded to the State's argument as follows:

MR. LUMUMBA: Judge, first of all, I would like to see the case. The case he

gave me before, I'd like to repeat, the Sanders case has absolutely nothing to do

with denying duress instruction, it has absolutely nothing, it's about severance.

But, secondly, the point is, is that we cannot mislead the jury and cannot

deny the defendant his lawful defense.

Now, they are giving an instruction on kidnapping. You have approved an

instruction on kidnapping in their instruction. Kidnapping is in here.⁴⁸

They defined kidnapping, and I'll tell you what instruction it is. Let me see. Capital

murder is S-1.

THE COURT: It's S-2.

MR. LUMUMBA: Pardon?

⁴⁶ Fuqua, 938 So. 2d at ¶ 20.

⁴⁷ Jacobs v. State, 870 So. 2d at ¶ 19.

⁴⁸ 5:645:16-29.

14

THE COURT: S-2

MR. LUMUMBA: S-2? Yeah, it's S-2, it's a kidnapping instruction. And so I would ask we amend this, and indicate that if the defendant was acting under duress, then he cannot be found guilt of capital murder. The prosecution must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that he wasn't acting in duress. By saying that the duress would not have, confusion would not be caused if you just delivered a duress instruction as to Count I, or their anti-duress instruction. And this is clearly going to confuse the jury. The jurors are going to go back there and fell, "well, we can't use this duress instruction as it goes to kidnapping." and that is clearly not the law.⁴⁹ The trial court made the following ruling:

THE COURT: Okay, I don't want to hear that duress instruction argument again. The request is denied. Okay, anything further before we get into closing.⁵⁰ The trial court denied Ruffin's duress instruction to the underlying felony of

kidnapping in the capital murder charge not because there was no evidence to support it. It was not denied because it was in the wrong form. Nor was it denied because duress is not a defense to the underlying felony of kidnapping. It was denied, the court reasoned incorrectly, because duress is not a defense to capital murder. This denial was misplaced. Duress is a defense to the underlying felony of kidnapping. A duress instruction has been given to the underlying felony in a capital murder charge. The jury should have been given such an instruction herein as it is supported by law and evidence.

⁴⁹ 5:646:7-23.

⁵⁰ 5:646:24-28.

The State, in its closing argument, compounded this misplaced, prejudicial and reversible error when it made the following argument that duress is not a defense to kidnapping:

Then in instruction, those are the elements. I mean, that's the one charge. Then you have the instruction that deals with duress, this Number 11, "The Court instructs the jury that even if you were to find from the evidence in this case that the defendant, Micah Ruffin, was acting under some form of duress, such duress would not constitute any defense, whatsoever, to the charge of capital murder." it's not a defense to any of the elements contained in there. Kidnapping is one of the elements.⁵¹

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