IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MICAH RUFFIN

VS.

FILED

APPELLANT

MAR 0 3 2008

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

NO. 2007-KA-0695

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JOHN R. HENRY

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal against a judgment of the Circuit Court of Yazoo County, Mississippi in which the Appellant was convicted and sentenced for his felonies of CAPITAL MURDER and ARMED ROBBERY.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Appellant does not appear to challenge the sufficiency of the evidence of his guilt.

Nor does he appear to claim that the verdicts returned against him are contrary to the great weight of the evidence. It is therefore unnecessary to set the facts of his guilt out in any detail. Stated briefly, the evidence showed that the Appellant and another individual came into a house in which a dice game was being played and kidnaped, robbed and killed one Tommy Giles.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN REFUSING TO GRANT AN INSTRUCTION ON THE DEFENSE OF DURESS AS TO THE UNDERLYING FELONY OF THE CAPITAL MURDER CHARGE?
- 2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN REFUSING TO GRANT A CONTINUANCE?
- 3. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN REFUSING TO SUPPRESS A STATEMENT?
- 4. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN REFUSING TO GRANT A CHANGE OF VENUE?
- 5. WERE THERE CUMULATIVE ERRORS COMMITTED WHICH AMOUNTED TO A DENIAL OF A FAIR TRIAL?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- 1. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO GRANT AN INSTRUCTION ON THE DEFENSE OF DURESS AS TO THE UNDERLYING FELONY OF THE CAPITAL MURDER CHARGE, THE UNDERLYING FELONY HAVING BEEN KIDNAPING
- 2. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO GRANT A CONTINUANCE
- 3. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO SUPPRESS THE APPELLANT'S STATEMENTS
- 4. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING RELIEF ON THE APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A CHANGE OF VENUE
- 5. THAT THERE IS NO CUMULATIVE ERROR IN THE CASE AT BAR

ARGUMENT

1. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO GRANT AN INSTRUCTION ON THE DEFENSE OF DURESS AS TO THE UNDERLYING FELONY OF THE CAPITAL MURDER CHARGE, THE UNDERLYING FELONY HAVING BEEN KIDNAPING

The Appellant was charged in count one of the indictment with the felony of capital murder, the underlying felony alleged to have been kidnaping. (R. Vol. 1, pg. 5). In Count 2 of the indictment, the Appellant was charged with the armed robbery of the same victim.

The Appellant sought instructions on the defense of duress as to both counts. The trial court granted a duress instruction as to armed robbery, but refused to grant one with respect to the underlying felony of kidnaping. It noted that duress is not an available defense to murder. (R. Vol. 7, 625 - 630).

The Appellant renews his argument here that the defense of duress is available as to an underlying felony in a capital murder case. He presents no authority for that proposition; he says simply that there is no authority contrary to his argument. He does acknowledge, though, that it is indeed the law in this State that duress is not available as a defense to a charge of capital murder. *Fugua v. State*, 938 So.2d 277 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006).

First of all, while the trial court did indeed find that there was sufficient evidence to warrant the grant of a duress instruction as to armed robbery, we question whether there was sufficient evidence for such an instruction as to capital murder or the underlying felony of kidnaping or for armed robbery. In other words, before reaching the question put to this Court by

¹ The instruction we have found in the record concerning duress, D-20 (R. Vol. 2, pg. 200), was amended by the trial court. (R. Vol. 7, pg. 630). However, we have not found the amended version in this record. The amendment apparently limited the defense to the charge of armed robbery.

the Appellant, that being whether the defense of duress is available with respect to an underlying felony in a capital murder case, we think the Court should consider first whether that issue is properly before it. In our view, there was insufficient evidence presented to support the grant of instructions on duress.

The Appellant did not testify. He did not testify to any coercion practiced upon him by the other individual involved in the capital murder of Giles. The defense presented was that the Appellant was a person of peaceful disposition.

The testimony relied upon by the Appellant in support of his theory that a duress instruction should have been granted as to the kidnaping element of the capital murder charge came from one of the investigating officers. The Appellant gave a statement. This statement was admitted into evidence as State's Exhibit 10. (R. Vol. 5, pg. 321).

In the course of that statement, the Appellant told the officer that the Strahan, the other man involved in the murder of Giles, the victim, got into a difficulty with Giles in the course of the dice game. Strahan told the Appellant to get Strahan's gun. Strahan struck Giles with a brick several times, knocking Giles to the floor of the house. The Appellant struck Giles one time with the gun, struck him across his back. Strahan then told the Appellant to give him the gun, which the Appellant did. Strahan then told the Appellant to pull a car around, which the Appellant did. The Appellant pulled the car up and opened the trunk.

Strahan then pulled Giles up by the hair and marched him to the car and put Giles into the truck. Strahan then told the Appellant to drive the car, this being because the Appellant was the only one present who had a driver's license. Strahan and some women got into the car, and the Appellant drove. At some point one of the girls told the Appellant to stop. There was a corn field where the Appellant stopped. The Appellant backed the car up a bit. Strahan told the

Appellant to open the trunk. The Appellant did so; Strahan took the unfortunate Giles out of the trunk and marched him into the cornfield and told Giles to sit down. Strahan told the Appellant to give him the gun. Strahan went to the car, and one of the women handed him the gun. The Appellant then took the gun to Strahan. Strahan then fired six shots into Giles' head.

In another statement by the Appellant, State's Exhibit 9, the first one he gave, in which he attempted to greatly minimize his role in Giles' death, the Appellant said he did not try to stop Strahan because he was scared of Strahan. The officer through whom the Appellant's statements were introduced testified that the Appellant indicated that he was scared of Strahan. (R. Vol. 5, 354 - 355).

It may be that the Appellant said he was scared of Strahan. However, in none of the statements made by the Appellant did he say that Strahan had threatened him or assaulted him, or indicated that if he did not assist Strahan he would himself be killed. Indeed, on two occasions the Appellant had the gun that was used to kill Giles. On at least one occasion, the point in time when he left the house to bring the car around, he might have fled the scene. The evidence actually tends to show a willing participation by the Appellant in the commission of the felonies. He struck the victim once, unbidden to do so; he had several opportunities to flee.

It appears that there is some confusion presently as to what circumstances must exist in order to support the affirmative defense of duress. *Smith v. State*, 948 So.2d 474, 478 - 479 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007)(Discussion of various formulations of what circumstances must exist in order to support the defense of duress). However, while there may yet be confusion as to how the defense is to be described, the Court in *Smith* made it plain that, in all events, where a person has a reasonable, legal alternative to violating the law, a chance both to refuse the criminal act and avoid the threatened harm, the defense must fail. *Id*.

Here, as we have pointed out, there was no proof of any threat to the Appellant. In addition to this, he had the opportunity to avoid the commission of the criminal acts and the ability to avoid the (non-threatened) harm. The Appellant might have simply driven off when he was told to back the car up.

That Strahan is said to have told the Appellant to do certain acts is not dispositive on the question of whether duress was involved. Participants in crimes will often tell each other to a thing or another, but this alone would not constitute duress. The Appellant, in his statements, did state that he was scared of Strahan. But even if this were true, this fact, of its own, could not possibly support a duress instruction. There was nothing to show that Strahan ever threatened the Appellant, or that the Appellant was ever in any danger. On the other hand, the Appellant did have the gun, and he did strike Giles with it. There is no claim advanced that the Appellant struck Giles because he was threatened with harm if he did not.

Mere fear is an insufficient basis for a jury instruction on duress. In order to secure such an instruction, there must be an impelling danger that is present, imminent and impending and of such a nature as to induce a well - grounded fear of death or bodily harm if the act is not done.

Walker v. State, 913 So.2d 198, 234 (Miss. 2005). The facts in the case at bar did not support the defense of duress; the trial court would have committed no error had it denied the instruction on that basis. Since this is so, it is unnecessary to reach the question of whether the defense of duress is available to an element of capital murder.

Assuming for argument that the First Assignment of Error is presented for decision, there is no merit in it.

The claim, as we have said, is that duress is or should be an available defense for an underlying felony in a capital murder case. The Appellant recognizes that duress is not available

as a defense to capital murder, but he says it is with respect to the underlying felony, here kidnaping.

The flaw in the Appellant's analysis, in our view, is that it fails to take into account that in a capital murder case the underlying felony is an element of capital murder. *Peacock v. State*, 783 So.2d 763 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000). The underlying felony is not a "stand - alone" offense, and indeed a defendant in a capital murder case is not being prosecuted simply for having committed the underlying felony; he is being prosecuted for having committed a homicide whilst in the course of committing the underlying felony. Were this not so, then, contrary to the law as it is now, capital murder defendants might be able to obtain lesser - included instructions on the underlying felony. The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that kidnaping is not lesser - included to capital murder. *Cannaday v. State*, 455 So.2d 713, 725 (Miss. 1984).

We have found no decision, and certainly the Appellant has found none, in which duress was available as a partial defense to a crime. Duress, from all we have seen, is an all or nothing proposition. It exists, if at all, to the whole crime, not simply an element of the crime. *Pancoast v. Commonwealth*, 2 Va. App. 28, 340 S.E.2d 836 (1986)(defense of duress not available to selected element of a crime).²

The Appellant cites *Milano v. State*, 790 So.2d 179 (Miss. 2001). However, in that capital murder case the underlying offense was robbery. While there was a duress instruction with respect to the separately charged felony of kidnaping, there was no such instruction sought or given with respect to the underlying offense of robbery. *Milano* does not stand as authority that a duress defense is available to the underlying offense element of capital murder.

² We are quite aware that this decision is from another jurisdiction and thus is not binding upon this Court. We cite it for its persuasive value.

In Jacobs v. State, 870 So.2d 1202 (Miss. 2004), also cited by the Appellant, the defendant in that case was charged with capital murder. It is not clear from the opinion what the underlying offense was. It does appear, however, that a duress instruction was granted for the offense of robbery, and there is a suggestion in the opinion that robbery was the underlying offense. However, the Court in Jacobs was not presented with the question of whether the duress instruction was properly given. It was presented with the question of whether a lesser - included offense instruction should have been granted in light of the granting of the duress instruction. The Court simply noted that the duress instruction had been granted without considering the propriety of it. Jacobs does not stand as authority that the defense of duress exists as to the underlying felony element of capital murder. The Court did not address that question. In our view, the trial court in Jacobs erred in granting a duress instruction, but, since the error was of benefit to the defendant in that case, the Court apparently did not feel the need to address the matter.

In the event that this Court should find that the defense of duress was made out in the evidence and that the trial court erred in refusing to grant a duress instruction as to the underlying felony of kidnaping, we submit that any such error was harmless in the case at bar. It would be harmless is because the jury did, in fact, consider and reject the theory of duress in the course of resolving the armed robbery charge. There is no reason at all to suppose that the jury would have found the defense good as against the kidnaping charge notwithstanding its resolution of the armed robbery charge. Duress was in fact considered and rejected.

Duress is not a defense to capital murder, nor to an element of capital murder. The first Assignment of Error is without merit.

2. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO GRANT A CONTINUANCE

Just prior to the commencement of trial, on 2 April 2007, Mr. Chokwe Lumumba moved the trial court for a continuance. The first ground asserted for such relief was that, due to his suspension from the practice of law by the Mississippi Supreme Court, he could not practice law and prepare for trial. He represented to the trial court that he could not effectively represent the Appellant at the time of trial.

The second ground asserted was that the State had allegedly notified the defense a week prior to trial that She intended to produce Darwin Strahan as a witness. Strahan was the person who fired the shots into Giles' head. Mr. Lumumba represented to the trial court that the defense had not been able to interview Strahan and required additional time in which to do so.

The third ground asserted was the desire to find an expert who could enquire into the Appellant's level of intelligence. Without such information in hand, it was said that the defense was not prepared to have a hearing on the defense's motion to suppress the Appellant's statements.

The trial court denied relief on the motion. It noted that the Appellant had been represented by Mr. Imhotep Alkebu-Lan since August of 2005. As for Strahan, the court indicated that it would give the defense the opportunity to interview him prior to the commencement of trial. As for the business about the Appellant's mental capacity, the court noted that there was a report concerning the Appellant's mental ability in the court file, which the defense could use in the course of the hearing on the motion to suppress statements. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 7 - 13).

As the Appellant notes, the decision to grant or deny relief on a motion for a continuance

lies in th discretion of a trial court and will not be disturbed here absent a finding that it resulted in a manifest injustice. *Easterling v. State*, 963 So.2d 49 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). The court's decision to deny relief on the Appellant's motion for a continuance did not result in a manifest injustice.

As noted by the trial court, Mr. Alkebu-Lan had represented the Appellant since August of 2005. (R. Vol. 2, pg. 152). It seems to us that this was an entirely sufficient amount of time for Mr. Alkebu-Lan to prepare the Appellant's case for trial. The fact that Mr. Lumumba had come to grief with the State Bar, and so was unable to participate in the preparation of the case until the time of reinstatement, is a fact of little significance. It is not said that Mr. Alkebu-Lan was unable to adequately and effectively represent the Appellant, and indeed it was never said in the hearing on the motion for a continuance that Mr. Alkebu-Lan was unprepared for trial.

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